A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Petitioners are plaintiffs/appellants Donald Burdick, Bernard Goldberg, 

Susan Byington, Lisa Carfagno, Peter and Janice Elliot, Paul Golstein, Tom 

and La Voe Mulgrew, Susan Rosen, Martin Silverman, Sharon Silverman, 

and Barry and Robin Stuck (the investors). 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The petitioners request that this Court review the decision affirming 

summary judgment against petitioners, Burdick, et. al., v. Rosenthal Collins 

Group LLC, No. 73459-8, contained in the Appendix at pages A-I through 

A-23. A copy of the order denying petitioners' motion for reconsideration 

is in the Appendix at page A-24. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

This case raises two issues: (1) whether respondent Rosenthal Collins 

Group ("RCG") is secondarily liable under the securities acts of 

Washington (where liability exists if RCG "materially aids in the 

transaction") and Ohio (where liability exists for "every person who has 

participated in or aided the seller in any way in making such sale or contract 

for sale") when it assisted a nonregistered investment advisor/broker in 

establishing a commodities pool that RCG knew was illegal and where RCG 

knew that misrepresentations were being made to potential investors 

regarding the risks and the legality of the fund; and (2) whether RCG is 
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liable to the investors for its negligence in opening and maintaining that 

illegal commodity pool, which violated federal regulations and its own 

internal procedures. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Factual background. Enrique Villalba, an Ohio self-described 

investment advisor, approached RCG with a plan to establish an account at 

that firm with money he intended to raise from investors. Villalba presented 

RCG with a six page offering circular he prepared to solicit $100 million 

from investors. It described the investment plan for the account: 

(1) Funds from Villalba's investors would be pooled to invest m 

treasury bills or money market funds "within a vehicle similar to a mutual 

fund." CP 853. 

(2) On occasion, S&P 500 futures contracts would be purchased, based 

on Villalba's purported expertise in predicting market trends. CP 856-57. 

Those transactions would add 2% to 5% additional value for his investors. 

CP 856. The trades in futures contracts would be infrequent, at most a "few 

days a month." For 90% of the year, "the dollars in the portfolio will remain 

in non-fluctuating treasury bills or short term commercial paper." ld. 

(3) The investment had minimal risk because the futures transactions 

would be made with "little or no leverage" and any risk in the futures trading 

would be further limited by the use of stop orders set to limit losses. !d. 
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Villalba's plan was problematic on its face: he had no track record or 

data to show that his program would work, and the concept of trading with 

"little or no leverage" made no sense in the futures market. More 

importantly, RCG recognized that Villalba's plan was illegal. 

First, RCG knew that although Villalba planned to raise $100 million 

from investors, he was not registered with any federal or state regulator to 

sell securities, give investment advice, or trade futures contracts on behalf 

of others. Second, the circular falsely claimed that the fund was not subject 

to state or federal regulation. RCG recognized that because the account 

would contain pooled investments, the fund would constitute a commodity 

pool.i That made Villalba, or his company, a commodity pool operator. 

Neither were registered as commodity pool operators as required by the 

Commodities Futures Trading Commission. Registration of commodity 

pool operators is not a mere formality; it is required to protect investors.2 

Third, the circular represented to potential investors that there was little risk 

associated with the investments. RCG knew better. In fact, it had Villalba 

sign a disclosure acknowledging the trading was risky. CP 1558-59. 

I Commodity pools are "the commodity-futures equivalent of a mutual fund." CFTC v. 
Equity Fin. Group LLC, 527 F.3d. 150, 160 (3d. Cir. 2009). 

2 "One of the ways in which unsophisticated traders have lost substantial amounts of 
money is through commodity advisors and commodity pool operators. This bill will 
provide for the registration of all such persons, establish procedures under which they will 
be permitted to operate and specifically eliminate certain undesirable practices which have 
enticed unsuspecting traders into the markets with, far too often, substantial loss of funds." 
CFTC v. Equity Fin. Group LLC, at 157 (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 93-975, at 79 (1974)). 
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RCG attempted to address the second problem by having Villalba claim 

an exemption from having to register as a commodity pool operator. That 

exemption, however, was only applicable if Villalba neither received any 

direct or indirect compensation for managing the anticipated $1 00 million 

pool, nor advertised for participants. The circular stated, and RCG knew, 

that he expected to receive management fees from the proceeds and that he 

would be "offering the securities to the public." Opinion at 5. The 

exemption was fraudulent. 3 

Thus, RCG knew (1) that Villalba was illegally raising funds from 

investors because he was not authorized to provide investment advice or sell 

securities, (2) that the circular describing the program contained 

misrepresentations regarding the risk of the trades and the legality of the 

program, and (3) that the account would be used as an illegal commodity 

pool. RCG was required not to open an account when illegality was 

suspected.4 Further, it was prohibited by regulations from conducting 

business with an unregistered commodity pool operator.5 Nonetheless, RCG 

agreed to work with Villalba. It opened an account for his Money Market 

3 Villalba did sell securities to the public and paid himself significant management fees. 
4 CP 1539 (Tanzar Dep. at 80) (emphasis added). 
5 National Futures Association, Bylaw 1101 - Doing Business With Non-Members 

(quoted in relevant part). 
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Alternative program and relocated a broker to work with him in Ohio.6 

After the account was opened, the misrepresentations regarding the 

program were used to solicit the investors. CP 459. The investors signed 

agreements with Villalba and sent their money to a bank account where it 

was then transferred to RCGJ 

Villalba never followed his purported investment plan. See CP 1517-20. 

Instead of keeping customer money in treasury bills with occasional 

transactions in S&P 500 futures contracts, Villalba pooled the investors' 

money to trade risky, highly-leveraged positions in futures contracts at RCG 

for the chance of substantially higher returns that would allow him to pay 

himself significant fees while providing his investors with the smaller return 

described in his offering materials.& He traded nearly every day, resulting in 

more than $1 million in commissions and fees for RCG.9 

The promised "stop orders" to limit losses were not used. Single day 

losses of more than $100,000 were not uncommon and, in March 2008 

alone, the account lost more than $9 million. Opinion at 5. Villalba admitted 

6 CP 1511: "the RCG broker assigned to work on the MMA account relocated to Ohio 
for that purpose." 

7 CP 2086-96, which documents a typical transaction showing money being wire transfer 
from one of the investors to Villalba and immediately transferred to RCG for trading. The 
statement by the Court of Appeals that the securities sales were completed well before 
Villalba would send money to the RCG account (Opinion at 12) is inaccurate. 

8 CP 1517-22. 
9 CP 1525, n. 6. and CP 1363-1495 (RCG account statements). 
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that the losses stemmed from recklessly using leverage in the RCG account, 

which accelerated as he attempted to recover those losses.Io 

RCG was required to monitor the account and to detect deviations 

between the investment plan in the offering circular and actual trading and 

close the account if there was a material deviation. 11 Despite assigning a 

broker to work with Villalba in Ohio, who could see first-hand what was 

transpiring in the account, RCG failed to close the account or stop any 

trading until Villalba's customers had lost more than $30 million. 

Although RCG's records showed the losses and frequency of trading in 

the commodity pool, the quarterly statements provided to the investors did 

not. See CP 1129, (customer statement for January-March 2008). Villalba 

fabricated account statements showing that his program was doing well. CP 

1119, 1129. When Villalba revealed his fraud to the investors, their account 

statements indicated an aggregate value of millions of dollars. In actuality, 

the investors' money was gone. Id. 

Villalba was sued by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 

CFTC. CP 1362-84. He pled guilty to wire fraud and is serving a 1 05-month 

prison sentence. CP 292-97. Shortly after Villalba was convicted, the CFTC 

investigated RCG's role in Villalba's fraud, concluding that RCG failed to 

1° CP 1518. 
II CP 1553 (page 202). 
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properly supervise the MMA account. CP 1522-32. The CFTC found that 

RCG ignored many "red flags" appearing in the account records and that it 

should have acted in light of "the lack of regard for trading losses, 

commissions, and fees in the MMA account." CP 1527-28. 

RCG was sued by Villalba's investors in two other cases, both in Ohio: 

Pieretti v. RCG Group, LLC, No. 2011-CV-0051 (Erie County) and VASA 

Order v. RCG Group, L.L.C. No. CV-11-753705 (Cuyahoga County). RCG 

brought motions for summary judgment in both cases. Both courts refused 

to dismiss the claims for secondary liability under the Ohio securities act. 12 

The VASA case went to trial solely on the Ohio securities claims. The jury 

returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs.13 

Procedural history of this case. The investors filed a motion for 

summary judgment that their transactions with Villalba were securities 

under the state securities acts. The trial court granted that motion except for 

the investments made by customer Bernie Goldberg. The court held that his 

investments were not securities because Villalba was compensated through 

a partnership agreement he had with Goldberg.14 

12 Appendices A and C to the appellants' opening brief in the Court of Appeals. 
13 Appendix E to the appellants' opening brief in the Court of Appeals. 
14 The investors appealed that decision, but it was not addressed by the Court of Appeals. 

The investors request that this Court reverse the Court of Appeals decision below and 
remand the issue of whether Mr. Goldberg's interest is a security to the Court of Appeals 
for decision. 
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The trial court granted RCG's motion for summary judgment, where it: 

(1) ruled that all of the investors could bring claims under the Ohio 

securities act, (2) held that the purchases made by the plaintiffs were 

securities, except for customer Goldberg, (3) dismissed the investors' 

securities claims, holding that RCG could not be secondarily liable for 

Villalba's violations of the securities acts, and ( 4) dismissed the investors' 

claim for negligent supervision of the account and the Washington 

Consumer Protection Act claim. 

Prior to the summary judgment motions, the trial court granted RCG's 

motion for a protective order prohibiting discovery of"RCG's inquiries and 

monitoring of Villalba and the MMA account." This effectively prohibited 

petitioners from obtaining information regarding all of the facts regarding 

RCG's role and involvement with Villalba and his account. 

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed these decisions. 

E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. Review should be granted of the investors' claims under the 
Washington and Ohio securities acts. 

The securities acts of both Washington and Ohio provide that persons 

other than the seller of a security can be secondarily liable for a seller's 

violations of those acts. The Court of Appeals decision on the scope ofthat 

liability conflicts with this Court's holding in Haberman v. Wash. Pub. 
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Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987) and applicable 

Ohio decisions. 

Washington State Securities Act (WSSA) 

RCW 21.20.430(1 )15 provides that a seller of a security who violates the 

WSSA is liable to the person buying the security. Under Haberman, non-

sellers are also liable under that provision if their "participation was a 

substantial contributive factor in the violation."16 Because this requirement 

arises from the section imposing liability against the seller, secondary 

liability under that section is levied on parties having the "attributes of a 

seller" - promoting, soliciting, and participating in the actual sales 

transaction between the seller and the buyer. Brin v. Stutzman, 89 Wn. App. 

809, 829, 951 P.2d 291, 302 (1998). 

RCW 21.20.430(3)17 expressly imposes secondary liability on a broker-

dealer when it did not sell the security if it "materially aids in the 

transaction." Noting that there was no previous Washington appellate 

15 "Any person, who offers or sells a security in violation of any provisions of RCW 
21.20.010, 21.20.140 (1) or (2), or 21.20.180 through 21.20.230, is liable to the person 
buying the security from him or her, who may sue either at law or in equity to recover the 
consideration paid for the security .... " Appendix at A-25. 

16 Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 130, 744 P.2d 1032, 
1051 (1987), quoting with approval comment on Uniform Securities Act§ 605. 

17 " ... every broker-dealer, salesperson, or person exempt under the provisions of RCW 
21.20.040 who materially aids in the transaction is also liable jointly and severally with 
and to the same extent as the seller or buyer, unless such person sustains the burden of 
proof that he or she did not know, and in the exercise of reasonable care could not have 
known, of the existence of the facts by reason of which the liability is alleged to exist." 
Appendix at A-25. 
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decision on point, the Court of Appeals held that this subsection also 

requires a showing that the non-seller had the attributes of a seller. Since 

RCG did not "promote or solicit the sale" of securities and "had absolutely 

no contact whatsoever with the investors," the court held it could not be 

liable to the investors despite its role in enabling and acquiescing in 

Villalba's fraud. Opinion at 12. This holding conflicts with this Court's 

decision in Haberman and the WSSA. 

This Court held that that the substantial contributive factor test under 

RCW 21.20.430(1) "is distinct from the test for participant liability pursuant 

to RCW 21.20.430(3)."18 Instead, "RCW 21.20.430(3) liability is based on 

other defendants' relationships to a seller liable under RCW 21.20.430(1)." 

Thus, Haberman did not intend that liability under RCW 21.20.430(3) 

include a requirement that the non-seller have the "attributes of a seller" as 

required by the substantial participation test ofRCW 21.20.430(1). Instead 

it held that non-sellers who do not meet the substantial participation test-

thus lacking the attributes of a seller-may still be subject to secondary 

liability under RCW 21.20.430(3).19 

While no prior Washington appellate decision addresses the standard 

for "materially aid" under RCW 21.20.430(3), other courts hold that broker-

18 Haberman, 109 Wn. 2d at 132. 
19 Haberman, 109 Wn. 2d at 133. 
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dealers and others who are not sellers may be liable when they provide 

assistance to the wrongdoer that does not include soliciting the buyer or 

promoting the security. 

In Koruga v. Fiserv Correspondent Services, Inc.,2o the issue was 

whether Fiserv, a clearing broker, could be held liable for the fraudulent 

acts of one of its corresponding brokers. An arbitration panel found that 

Fiserv was liable under RCW 21.20.430(3) as a broker-dealer who 

materially aids in a transaction. The court did not detail the corresponding 

broker's fraud but concluded that Fiserv knew about the illegal activity and 

"materially participated" when it cleared trades and prepared confirmations, 

which were "necessary functions related to each of the securities 

transactions with Plaintiffs."21 There was no indication that the broker-

dealer participated in promoting or selling securities to the investors. 

Similarly, the Kansas Supreme Court held that a brokerage firm that 

cleared trades for an investment firm, but did not participate directly in the 

transactions between the investment firm and its customers, could be liable 

under the "materially aid" test contained in a provision of the Kansas 

securities act that is identical RCW 21.20.430(3).22 That court recognized 

20 Koruga v. Fiserv Correspondent Services, Inc., 183 F. Supp. 2d 1245 (D. Or. 2001), 
aff'd, 40 F. App'x. 364 (9th Cir. 2002). 

21 Koruga, 183 F. Supp. 2d at 1246. 
22 Klein v. Oppenheimer & Co., 281 Kan. 330, 358-59, 130 P.3d 569, 587 (2006). 
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that the courts "have taken a rather broad view of activities that may 

constitute 'material aid'" and found that the firm could be liable when the 

seller sold unregistered securities to its clients. The Court recognized that 

the firms handling trades for investment advisors (like RCG did for 

Villalba) were in the best position to detect fraud and should bear the 

consequences of choosing to benefit financially from the fraud by 

continuing to process trades at the expense of the seller's customers. 23 

In Oregon, whose secondary liability statute is similar to Washington's, 

the "materially aid" requirement is satisfied by acquiescing in a seller's 

wrongdoing even though the non-seller had no involvement in the sales 

transaction. See Ainslie v. First Interstate Bank, NA.24 In Ainslie, First 

Interstate was retained as the escrow agent to hold the proceeds from a 

securities offering. A minimum amount of money had to be raised within a 

certain time before proceeds could be distributed to the venture. If that 

requirement was not met, the offering would be canceled and money 

returned to the investors. Sales were slow and the venture needed money. 

The venture's principals instructed Oregon Bank to provide a credit to First 

Interstate that increased the balance in the escrow account to the level 

required for funds to be distributed. Those principals then directed First 

23 /d. 

24 Ainslie v. First Interstate Bank, N.A., 148 Or. App. 162, 939 P.2d 125, 137 (1997). 
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Interstate to provide a credit in the same amount back to Oregon Bank. The 

net effect was that the escrow account briefly showed sufficient funds in the 

account so that a distribution was made to the venture, even though no new 

money had been raised. The investors later sued, claiming that the sales 

never should have been finalized because the venture failed to meet the 

funding requirement by the required date. 

First Interstate was found liable as a matter of law for participating or 

aiding in the sale of the securities. The court held that "the extent and 

importance of the defendant's involvement in a sale can be shown by 

evidence of its connection with unlawful activities as much as with any 

other aspects of the sale." 

RCG materially aided Villalba in his transactions with the investors. It 

knowingly helped him establish an illegal commodity pool and conducted 

the trades that lost millions of dollars. And, unlike other parties that are 

potentially liable for secondary liability, RCG received money from the 

investors to pay the commissions for those trades. This Court should review 

the scope ofliability under RCW 21.20.430(3) to determine whether broker

dealers should face consequences for their involvement in these schemes. 

Ohio Securities Act 

Ohio extends secondary liability for securities violations to those who 

"participated in" the illegal sale or "aided the seller in any way": 
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Every sale or contract for sale made in violation of Chapter 
1707 of the Revised Code is voidable at the election of the 
purchaser. The person making such sale or contract for sale, 
and every person who has participated in or aided the seller 
in any way in making such sale or contract for sale, are 
jointly and severally liable to such purchaser, ... for the full 
amount paid by such purchaser and for all taxable court costs, 
unless the court determines that the violation did not materially 
affect the protection contemplated by the violated provision.2s 

The Court of Appeals similarly required the investors to offer proof that 

RCG promoted Villalba's program or solicited investors or had some other 

direct contact with them regarding the investment to maintain a claim under 

that statute. Opinion it 17. But "R.C. 1707.43 does not require that a person 

induce a purchaser to invest in order to be held liable. Rather, the language 

is very broad, and participating in the sale or aiding the seller in any way is 

sufficient to form a basis for liability under R.C. 1707.43."26 "The statute 

does not require knowledge, intent, or any other mental state on the part of 

secondary actor, nor does it require reliance, inducement, or proximate

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