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

of "other courts interpreting identical provisions," which have all 

"required the material aid to be given in the course of the sales 

transaction." !d. at 11-12 (collecting cases). Because RCG "did not 

participate at all in Villalba's sale of interest[sj in MMA to investors," 

-9-



"did not factor into their decision to invest," "did not issue, promote or 

solicit the sale of alleged securities and, in fact, had absolutely no contact 

whatsoever with the investors," the Court of Appeals held that RCG did 

not "materially aid in the transaction" for purposes of RCW 21.20.430(3). 

!d. at 12 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals accurately stated and 

applied the law, and there is no basis to reconsider that ruling. 

Unable to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts 

with Washington law, Appellants cite a handful of cases from Oregon and 

Kansas that they argue conflict with the Court of Appeals decision. 

Petition at 10-13. Appellants suggest that these cases support their 

argument that the "'materially aid' requirement is satisfied" by showing 

that the defendant merely "acquiesce[d] in a seller's wrongdoing even 

though the non-seller had no involvement in the sales transaction." ld. A 

conflict with the law of other states is not a proper basis for review under 

RAP 13 .4(b ). Regardless, Appellants' cases are easily distinguishable. 

Appellants rely on Koruga v. Fiserv Correspondent Services, Inc., 

183 F. Supp. 2d 1245 (D. Or. 2001) and Klein v. Oppenheimer & Co., 

281 Kan. 330 (2006) to suggest that courts have found that clearing firms 

that perform "necessary functions related to each of the securities 

transactions with Plaintiffs" may "materially participate[]" in the 

transaction. Petition at 11-12. In each of those cases, however, the 

clearing firm defendant not only executed the fraudulent sale of securities, 

but also created customer accounts for the plaintiffs, loaned the plaintiffs 

money to purchase the securities on margin, and prepared and mailed 
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confinnation and monthly account statements directly to the plaintiffs. 

See Koruga, 183 F. Supp. 2d at 1246; Klein, 281 Kan. at 336. In other 

words, the defendant was "directly involved in the challenged 

transaction." Koruga, 183 F. Supp. 2d at 1248 (emphasis added).1 By 

contrast, Appellants dealt only with Villalba, received no loan from RCG, 

and, indeed, had no contact or legal relationship whatsoever with RCG. 

Appellants' cases arc also inapplicable for the simple reason that RCG 

did not clear any of the alleged securities transactions that Appellants 

claim were fraudulent. Indeed, the Klein court was careful to note that "if 

[the defendant] had not executed the trades at issue, Klein would have no 

cause of action ... and [the case] would have been dismissed long ago on 

that ground." Klein, 281 Kan. at 336. Unlike in Klein and Koruga, the 

futures trades cleared by RCG on behalf of MMA are not "securities" and 

not the transactions that Appellants claim were fraudulent. The allegedly 

fraudulent sale of "securities" took place exclusively between Villalba and 

Appellants before any money ever reached RCG. Opinion at 12.~ 

1 To the extent that Koruga and Klein hold that a clearing firm's ministerial functions 
alone are sufficient to satisfy the "material aid" standard, those cases are inconsistent 
with other authority. See Carlson v. Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc., 906 F.2d 315, 317-19 
(7th Cir. 1990) (holding that clearing brokers generally perform merely operational and 
ministerial duties and are not material to the underlying transaction); UNIFORM 
SECURITIES AcT § 509 cmt. 11 ("[T]he perfonnance by a clearing broker of the clearing 
broker's contractual functions ... without more would not constitute material aid or 
result in liability."). 

~Appellants also rely on Ainslie v. Interstate Bank of Oregon, N.A., 939 P.2d 125 (Or. Ct. 
App. 1997). Petition at 12-13. That case, however, involved a defendant's management 
of escrowed funds between the investors and the venture. !d. at 138-39. In that peculiar 
case, Oregon law required the defendant's participation in the type of securities at issue, 
and, again, the defendant was directly involved in the allegedly fraudulent transaction. 
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O.R.C. § 1707.43(A) 

The Court of Appeals decision affirming summary judgment on 

Appellants' OSA claims is also consistent with Ohio precedent. As the 

Court of Appeals recognized, the "crux of liability under section 1707.43 

of the [OSA] is participation by the defendant in 'making [the] sale."' /d. 

at 16 (quoting O.R.C. § 1707.43(A)). This section extends liability to 

non-sellers, but "the act 'do[ es] not impose liability on anyone who aided 

the seller 'in any way.' Rather, [it] impose[s] liability on anyone who 

aided the seller in any way in making an unlawful sale or contract for 

sale." /d. (quoting In re Nat 'I Century Fin. Enters., Inc. Inv. Litig., 2006 

WL 2849784, at * 10 (S.D. Ohio Oct. 3, 2006) (emphasis in original)). 

Consistent with its holding under the WSSA, the Court of Appeals found 

no evidence that RCG had any role in "making [the] sale" of securities to 

Appellants and properly affirmed summary judgment on these claims. 

Opinion at 16-18. 

Contrary to Appellants' assertion, the Court of Appeals correctly 

applied the most recent Ohio precedent on § 1707.43(A), Wells Fargo 

Bank, NA. v. Smith, 2013 WL 938069 (Ohio Ct. App. Mar. 11, 2013). In 

Wells Fargo, the court surveyed the factors that Ohio courts have 

considered in deciding whether a person or entity aided in "making such 

!d. at 127, 135. In fact, the court determined that Oregon law created a fiduciary 
relationship between the escrow holder and investors. !d. By contrast here, RCG did not 
participate in any way in the transactions between Villalba and his investors and had no 
legal relationship with the Appellants. 
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sale," each one aimed directly at planning, soliciting and consummating 

the sales transaction itself. Wells Fargo, at *5 (setting forth factors). As 

the Court of Appeals observed, Wells Fargo "makes clear the importance 

of the sales transaction" as the basis for liability under § 1707.43(A). 

Opinion at 17. In the end, the Ohio court granted summary judgment to a 

defendant who undoubtedly aided the seller in some ways but not in 

"making the sale," as required by the plain language of the statute. 

The holding in Wells Fargo controls this case. As the Court of 

Appeals concluded, none of the factors Ohio courts consider in finding 

that a defendant aided in "making the sale" are present here. RCG did not 

relay information to investors, did not collect money from investors, did 

not distribute notes or documents, and did not "actively market" Villalba's 

investment. In short, RCG did not do any of the things that could make it 

a participant in "making [the] sale." O.R.C. § 1707.43(A). 

The Court of Appeals' holding is also supported by other Ohio 

authority, including Boomershine v. Lifetime Capital, Inc., 2008 WL 

54803, at *2 (Ohio App. Jan. 4, 2008). There, the Ohio Appellate Court 

affinned summary judgment in favor of the seller's bank and a policy 

administrator, who together "collected and held premiums for investors .. 

. , facilitated payments necessary to keep the policies in effect, and 

assisted in the distribution of insurance proceeds." !d. at *2. Although 

this conduct surely aided the seller in the administration of the 

unregistered investments (and placed the defendants in direct contact with 

investors, unlike here), the Ohio Court of Appeals held that the bank and 
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administrator did not aid in making "the sale of those policies, as required 

to establish a violation of ... § 1707.43." !d. (emphasis in original). Just 

as in this case, the court held that the defendants' receipt of proceeds from 

the sale was insufficient involvement because it "came after [each 

plaintiff] had invested" in the instrument. !d. (emphasis in original). 

Likewise, in In re National Century, the Ohio district court dismissed 

§ 1707.43(A) claims against Bank One, who served as trustee to the issuer 

of an allegedly fraudulent note offering and who allegedly "knew about, 

facilitated, and participated in" the issuer's overall scheme. 2006 WL 

2849784, at *2. There, the court was careful to point out that 

§ 1707.43(A) "does not impose liability on anyone who aided the seller 'in 

any way,'" but rather it imposes liability on defendants that "aided the 

seller in any way in making an unlawful sale or contract for sale." !d. at 

*II (emphasis in original). Even though the plaintiffs in that case had 

adequately alleged that Bank One had "aided in the scheme to defraud," 

the court dismissed the plaintiffs' § 1707.43(A) claims because they had 

not alleged that Bank One had "aided fthe seller] in selling notes." ld.; see 

also Strunkv. Settles, 1980 WL 353191, at *5 (Ohio App. Ct. Feb. 13, 

1980) (affirming summary judgment because "[a]bsent any evidence of 

the appellees' participation in the sale of [stock] to appellant," liability 

could not extend to appellees as a matter of law). 

Appellants argue that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the 

interlocutory order of the Pieretti trial court, which also involved 

Villalba's investors. Petition at 14-16. But the Pieretti court expressly 
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refused to apply Wells Fargo because the case was on appeal and not 

binding on that court.2 Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals decision does 

not create any conflict with Ohio law because trial court orders in Ohio are 

not preccdcntial. See Maurer v. Ctr. Twp., 2002 WL 1998438 (Ohio App. 

Ct. Aug. 30, 2002) ("A decision by a trial court [even] in the same district 

is not 'appropriate precedent."'). The Court of Appeals and the trial court 

in this matter were unpersuaded by the Pieretti trial court order because 

that decision was neither well-reasoned nor consistent with the available 

Ohio precedent discussed above. 

2. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Consistent with Published 
Decisions of the Court of Appeals. 

Appellants also petition the Court to review the dismissal of their 

common law negligence claims, arguing that the Court of Appeals 

decision conflicts with Garrison v. SagePoint Financial, Inc., 185 Wn. 

App. 461 (2015), review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1009 (2015). Petition at 17-

20. Appellants are wrong; Garrison is easily distinguished. As the Court 

of Appeals recognized, Garrison involved the scope of the duty to protect 

third parties from the wrongdoing of employees. Opinion at 20. In this 

case, Villalba was not RCG's employee; he was merely the third-party 

manager of one of RCG's thousands of customers. In those 

circumstances, every court to address this issue has held that the FCM 

2 See Pieretti v. Rosenthal Collins Group, LLC, Erie C.P., No. 11-cv-0051, at 6 (May 22, 
2013), Appendix 0 to Appellants' reply brief in the Court of Appeals. 

-15-



owes no duty to protect non-customers from a customer's fraud. See id. at 

19-20 (collecting cases). 

The Court of Appeals decision is also consistent with the guidance of 

this Court. This Court has repeatedly instructed that "there is no duty to 

prevent a third party from intentionally harming others unless a special 

relationship exists between the defendant and either the third party or the 

foreseeable victim." Niece v. Elmview Grp. Home, 131 Wn.2d 39, 43 

(1997) (quotations omitted); Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 674-

75 (1998) (absent a special relationship "no legal duty to come to the aid 

of a stranger exists"); RESTATEMENT (SECOND) TORTS§ 315. Consistent 

with that instruction, the Court of Appeals has followed the nearly 

universal rule that financial institutions do not owe a duty of care to 

protect non-customers with whom they have no relationship from fraud. 

See, e.g., Zabka v. Bank of Am. Corp., 131 Wn. App. 167, 174 (2005) 

(bank owed no duty to defrauded investors absent a direct relationship). 

Garrison does not instruct otherwise. There, the Court of Appeals 

held that AIG could be responsible for negligently supervising its 

employee, Mark Garrison, who allegedly misappropriated money from 

third parties. Applying common law rules pertaining to negligent 

supervision of employees, the court found a duty in that case to control the 

employee for the protection ofthird parties. 185 Wn. App. at 484-85. 

Appellants misrepresent Garrison to argue that "a duty to a 

non-customer can arise when the firm discovers troublesome 'red flags.'" 

Petition at 18 (emphasis added). Appellants misread Garrison. Far from 
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creating a new duty to monitor for "red flags," it was undisputed in 

Garrison that AIG already owed a common law "duty to control [its] 

employee for the protection of third parties."lQ Garrison, 185 Wn. App. at 

484. The only dispute was "the scope of AIG's duty to supervise ... [its] 

investment advisor." !d. at 487 (emphasis added). Thus, contrary to 

Appellants' claim, Garrison does not provide that NASD rules or "red 

flags" can create a duty to non-customers, and Garrison is entirely 

consistent with the Court of Appeals decision here. 

Unlike the defendant in Garrison, RCG had no equivalent common 

law duty to supervise its customer (or more accurately, its customer's 

manager) to protect complete strangers from fraud. Opinion at 20. In fact, 

no legislature, regulatory body, or court has ever imposed such a duty.11 

The reasoning behind not imposing such a duty is "simple and sensible" 

and intended to avoid imposing insurer-like liability on financial 

institutions which would "expose [them] to unlimited liability for 

unforeseeable frauds." Zabka, 131 Wn. App. at 172 (quotations omitted). 

3. This Appeal Does Not Involve a Significant Question of 
Constitutional Law or Substantial Public Interest. 

!Q That the duty in Garrison arose because of the employment relationship between AIG 
and Garrison is confirmed by the cases the court relied upon, including Niece v. Elmview 
Group Home, in which this Court specifically identified the employer/employee 
relationship as the kind of "special relationship" that may give rise to a duty to protect 
third parties from injury. 131 Wn.2d at 51 (citing REST. (2ND) ToRTS § 315). 

11 Appellants' reliance on McGraw v. Wachovia Sec., LLC, 756 F. Supp. 1053 (N.D. 
Iowa 2010) and As You Sow v. AIG Fin. Advisors, Inc., 584 F. Supp. 2d 1034, 1049 
(M.D. Tenn. 2008) is misplaced. Both of those cases involved fraud and 
misappropriation by the defendant's own registered representative, not its customer. 
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Finally, Appellants make no attempt to demonstrate that either the 

third or fourth factors in RAP 13.4(b) are satisfied. This case does not 

present any significant questions of constitutional law or substantial public 

interest. As a private dispute between the thirteen individual investors and 

RCG, the ca<;e has little, if any, bearing on the public at large. Indeed, the 

Court of Appeals itself signaled that this case presents no issue of 

substantial public interest when it chose not to publish its opinion. 

4. If the Petition Is Granted, the Court Should Consider 
Additional Dispositive Issues. 

i. Appellants' RCW 21.20.430(3) claims jail because RCG is 
not a securities "broker-dealer." 

Appellants argue that RCG is liable under the WSSA for "materially 

aiding the transaction," but they ignore the additional element of RCW 

21.20.430(3) requiring that RCG be a "broker-dealer" for the seller. In 

fact, RCG ts categorically excluded from liability under 

RCW 21.20.430(3) because RCG never served as a securities "broker

dealer" for MMA or Villalba. The definition of "broker-dealer" in the 

statute requires the defendant to be in the business of effecting "securities" 

transactions for the seller. RCW 21.20.005; see also Bennett v. Durham, 

683 F.3d 732, 738-39 (6th Cir. 2012) (a "broker-dealer" must represent 

the issuer "in effecting or attempting to effect" the sale of securities). 

RCG did not effect any securities transactions; the only transactions 

involving RCG were futures trades executed by MMA, in MMA' s futures 

account. Because futures contracts and futures accounts are not 
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"securities," RCG could not have been a securities "broker-dealer" for 

purposes of RCW 21.20.430(3). See Sherry v. Dierks, 29 Wn. App. 433, 

441 (1981) ("The nondiscretionary commodity [futures] account involved 

here is not a 'security."'); Sinva, Inc. v. Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & 

Smith, Inc., 253 F. Supp. 259, 267 (S.D.N.Y. 1966) (commodity futures 

are not securities because their price movements are the result of market 

conditions and not the efforts of any promoters). 

ii. The Ohio Securities Act is inapplicable under Washington 
choice of law rules. 

Appellants also appeal the denial of their OSA claims arising under 

O.R.C. § 1707.43(A). Under Washington choice of law rules, however, 

the OSA is inapplicable because Appellants concede that "there is no 

actual conflict between Washington and Ohio securities laws" because 

these statutes "share the same interest of protecting investors." Opinion at 

13 & n.12. In those circumstances, this Court has repeatedly held that 

Washington law controls. See Woodward v. Taylor, 184 Wn.2d 911, 918

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